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For those who seek a greater truth.




The very word “secrecy” is repugnant in a free and open society; and we are as a people inherently and historically opposed to secret societies, to secret oaths and to secret proceedings. . . . Our way of life is under attack. Those who make themselves our enemy are advancing around the globe . . . no war ever posed a greater threat to our security. If you are awaiting a finding of “clear and present danger,” then I can only say that the danger has never been more clear and its presence has never been more imminent. . . . For we are opposed around the world by a monolithic and ruthless conspiracy that relies primarily on covert means for expanding its sphere of influence—on infiltration instead of invasion, on subversion instead of elections, on intimidation instead of free choice, on guerrillas by night instead of armies by day. It is a system which has conscripted vast human and material resources into the building of a tightly knit, highly efficient machine that combines military, diplomatic, intelligence, economic, scientific, and political operations. Its preparations are concealed, not published. Its mistakes are buried, not headlined. Its dissenters are silenced, not praised. No expenditure is questioned, no rumor is printed, no secret is revealed.


President John F. Kennedy
Address to the American Newspaper Publishers
Waldorf Astoria Hotel, New York, April 27, 1961
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President John F. Kennedy. (Source: Bettmann via Getty Images)
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FOREWORD


The author of Killing Kennedy, Jack Roth, makes it clear, in no uncertain terms, that John F. Kennedy’s assassination matters as much today as it did on Friday, November 22, 1963, because the path the world took following that fateful day instantly deviated from peace and prosperity, shifting toward conspiracy, cover-up and corruption—themes that remain ever-present today.


Roth deftly uses a question/answer format to present this historical event through the eyes of myriad individuals who add color, insight, perspective, and curiosity that hasn’t existed in previous books on the subject. It is profoundly fresh and unique, and I commend the author for taking a less-defined path versus a well-worn one when exploring JFK’s assassination.


While the book doesn’t attempt to exonerate Lee Harvey Oswald, it does explore the human side of a person who very well may have been in the right place at the right time as far as a government cover-up was concerned. Through first-person accounts, Roth helps us better understand the man who was manipulated by the very people to whom he was loyal.


Just when government operatives and caretakers of the lie think—and hope—the relevancy of the JFK assassination is fading into obscurity, Killing Kennedy appears, shedding new light, posing new questions, and, most importantly, poking the hornet’s nest at just the right time.


As we forlornly approach the sixty-year anniversary of Camelot’s sudden and sad demise, it’s hard not to wonder what a two-term Kennedy administration would’ve delivered. We live in a world shaped by an event so horrific that every citizen—to this day—should demand answers.


Only by acknowledging our past can we hope to avoid the errors of our ways, and that means holding those involved in the conspiracy, the cover-up, and the corruption liable for their dirty deeds. This book provides new insight that could very well move the conversation in the direction of accountability.


It is fascinating to note that the assassination of President Kennedy remains such a point of controversy fifty-nine years later. As we know from history, other US presidents have been assassinated, and there have been unsuccessful attempts to assassinate others. However, with the passage of time, each of those cases came to be accepted as a matter of history by the American public.


Why is the JFK assassination different? Why, after almost six decades, do approximately 60 to 75 percent of Americans continue to reject the conclusions of the Warren Commission, which was established by President Johnson to review the JFK assassination and present its findings to the American public? How many issues in the history of American politics have consistently been rejected by a majority of American voters? Why can we not allow this great tragedy to simply fade away?


If this horrible event had happened in the era of modern-day high technology, I believe the national news media would’ve pounced on the story like famished hyenas. Imagine the number of cell phones that would’ve captured still photographs and videos of the presidential motorcade at Dealey Plaza in Dallas that day, from a dizzying array of distinct vantage points, and with image clarity unattainable in the early 1960s. There would’ve been a drumbeat of blanket, round-the-clock news coverage on cable television, not to mention the vast number of uncensored theories that would no doubt be pinging around the blogosphere.


The federal government wouldn’t be able to control something like the Kennedy assassination investigation if it were to happen today. Putting it all together, a passive, politically ignorant public, ambivalent criminal justice professionals and legislators, and journalistic pusillanimity on the part of our major news media are responsible for the way in which the Warren Commission Report has continued to be accepted and promulgated by the federal government.


The government took advantage of our collective shock as a nation. In the past, the news media knew things we had never learned about, high-level shenanigans such as mistresses in the White House. It’s true the media “safety net” for government officials was ultimately torn down by the truth revealed about the Vietnam War and the Watergate scandal and finally fell through under the weight of the Bill Clinton-Monica Lewinsky affair. Today, news media may have reached a new level of obnoxiousness, but it’s a different world, especially for the rich and powerful. Nothing will stay secret for long.


Who was responsible for this assassination? In a nutshell, it’s the theory of the serious Warren Commission Report critics/researchers that what happened to President Kennedy on that sunny autumn afternoon in Dallas was an act so precise and profound it couldn’t have been the work of a lone gunman. The assassination of President Kennedy was a coup d’état, the overthrow of the government. The only people who could’ve pulled this off were either active or former top-level US military and CIA personnel. It could only have been orchestrated by a host of very secretive, powerful people.


As the author asks: Why is it important to continue to pursue the truth about who killed JFK? Why does this question still matter today?


The simple answer is this: Our country was established upon a foundation of democratic principles. Our position of international power and respect can only remain standing upon pillars of truth.


In the post-World War II years, the CIA, which developed from the Office of Strategic Studies (OSS), became a nation unto itself. It acted as its own government, deciding what was good for America. Any nation whose policies were deemed to be inimical to the United States was dealt with by the CIA through political assassinations, political overthrows of governments, and other furtive means. The CIA was answerable to nobody.


Accordingly, when JFK became president and undertook to make changes of national and international policy that were anathema to the modus operandi and raison d’être of the CIA, he posed a threat to this secretive organization. Following the Bay of Pigs debacle, Kennedy vowed to destroy the CIA. Quite obviously, this presented a serious challenge to that organization.


It must be kept in mind that the people who organized and controlled the CIA, as well as many of the top military personnel in our country, saw America going to hell in a basket under Kennedy’s rule. They were looking at five more years of JFK, very likely to be followed by eight years of Robert F. Kennedy, and thirteen years is a lifetime in the sociopolitical development of a country. There was no way they could beat the Kennedys at the polls. There was only one way to get America back on course, as perceived in their eyes. That was by the elimination of John F. Kennedy and five years later the assassination of Robert F. Kennedy.


If this nation is to continue as a respected democracy, we cannot allow actions such as the assassination of a president to go unchallenged.


The continuing cover-up of thousands of pages of documents compiled by the Warren Commission is unacceptable. President Trump and, more recently, President Biden, have withheld the release, which was to have occurred in 2019. This has nothing to do with our national security today. It’s absolutely absurd for Trump and Biden to have used this argument to justify the continuing sequestration of all the Warren Commission Report documents.


If the United States is to continue to be a leader in the free world, it’s essential our federal government maintain its credibility among American citizens and internationally. To cover up a heinous crime of any individual is morally, ethically, and legally unjustifiable. To do so when it involves an assassination of a president is truly incredible.


I’m confident, and thankful, this book will help keep the JFK assassination relevant and compel readers to ask the important questions . . . and demand truthful answers from our leaders.


—Cyril H. Wecht, MD, JD
Forensic Pathologist and Medicolegal Consultant
December 17, 2021




PREFACE


As a Gen Xer, I have a unique perspective on the United States. I was born in Brooklyn, New York, in 1965, so my earliest and most impressionable memories occurred in the late 1960s and early 1970s—one of the most volatile periods in US history. The Vietnam War, the counterculture movement, the Civil Rights Movement, the Cold War, the Space Race, and political shenanigans (Watergate) all interweaved to create the rather colorful tapestry of my youthful memories.


I was born two years after the John F. Kennedy assassination (1963) and was too young to be directly affected by the Martin Luther King Jr. and Robert Kennedy assassinations (1968). What I was affected by were their ripple effects. The world I grew up in was one in which disenchantment reigned and the institutions my parents and grandparents trusted implicitly could no longer be relied upon for having our best interests in mind. I specifically remember watching downtrodden Vietnam veterans, walking around in a half-dazed state as if betrayed by those they trusted and left alone to deal with the wounds (both physical and psychological) they received in Southeast Asia.


I remember feeling like my country was frayed, having recently lost its innocence and left exposed by the wrongdoings of its leaders. The feeling was palpable . . . thus a specific paradigm of the world was etched on my young brain.


By 1976, however, I was living the unincumbered life of an eleven-year-old American boy enthralled with Bicentennial celebrations, the movie Rocky, and Nadia Comaneci at the 1976 Summer Olympics. I was a happy-go-lucky kid, but it was around this time I saw something on TV about the JFK assassination and how Jack Ruby shot Lee Harvey Oswald—the only suspect in custody—in the basement of the Dallas police station two days after the assassination. And I remember, after analyzing the events surrounding that shocking development, my logical mind screaming, “Foul play!”


The fact that Ruby (a nightclub owner with ties to the mob) gained such easy access to the police station that day and was able to walk right up to Oswald and shoot him at point-blank range left no doubt in my mind something was rotten in the state of the United States. No trial for Oswald. No opportunity for Oswald—who, after being taken into custody, asserted very plainly that he was a patsy—to tell his side of the story. The “presumed” murderer of President Kennedy had been conveniently silenced forever.


Ruby himself hinted at the conspiracy while in custody, stating, “Everything pertaining to what’s happening has never come to the surface. The world will never know the true facts of what occurred, my motives. The people who had so much to gain and had such an ulterior motive for putting me in the position I’m in will never let the true facts come above board to the world.”


The entire affair didn’t sit well with me, but my mind quickly set its attention on other, more age-appropriate concerns, such as being a seventh grader, playing baseball, and crushing on girls. Life went on, and then, in 1991, at the age of 26, the lights went on for good, thanks to Oliver Stone and his award-winning film JFK. I remember being in the theater with my father, watching intently and feeling alternately twinges of anger and sadness. I left the theater in a state of shock, feeling totally betrayed by my own country and knowing—at that moment intuitively and later intellectually after conducting years of research—the official narrative of the Kennedy assassination was a lie.


That evening, I remember sitting with my parents in our living room, talking about how impactful the movie was. My father felt the same way I did, which was that Ruby killing Oswald was more than enough to convince him there was a conspiracy. (He also mentioned the rather ludicrous Magic Bullet Theory and how he never liked Gerald Ford or trusted Richard Nixon.) My mother specifically recalled a popular journalist and television game-show panelist named Dorothy Kilgallen, who died under mysterious circumstances in 1965. My mother shared that the scuttlebutt back then, and in which she believed, was Kilgallen was murdered because she was investigating the Kennedy assassination and knew too much. Both of my parents added they were profoundly affected by the assassination and would never forget that day as long as they lived.


The conversation with my parents that night, in addition to the world’s visceral response to the movie, convinced me that regardless of who killed President Kennedy and why, the ripple effects of the assassination were still being felt not only by Americans, but also by the global community. I also came to the realization the Kennedy assassination was as monumental as the American Civil War. Historians often distinguish between the United States before the Civil War and the United States after the Civil War, and between the United States before the Kennedy assassination and the United States after the Kennedy assassination. These two defining events radically changed the course of our history, which is why they will always matter.


When the idea of writing a book about the JFK assassination first crossed my mind, a good friend (also a writer) asked me an important question: What book can you write about the JFK assassination that hasn’t already been written and is different from the thousands of other books already published? It was a sobering question and one that forced me to ask what I could contribute that would be fresh. Hours of deep conversation ensued, during which we talked about specific aspects of the assassination and how another book on the topic could be relevant and unique.


Phrases such as “the cost of conspiracy,” “perpetual ripple effects,” “why it still matters,” “a people’s history,” and “present-day relevance” kept coming up repeatedly. A clear theme was evolving around the idea of the ripple effects of the assassination still being felt today, which is why it still matters fifty-eight years later. Also, the notion of the United States as a beacon of democracy was forever shattered on November 22, 1963, strongly implying there is a serious cost associated with malevolent behavior, conspiracy, and corruption, especially at the highest levels of government and power. Additionally, we must examine our history and learn from our past mistakes, which is why sparking interest in young people is critically important.


The more I thought about it, I also realized that providing context about Lee Harvey Oswald as a human being, and not simply as either a lone-nut assassin or patsy, was something readers would benefit from now and in the future. I set out to speak to individuals who could provide uncommon perspectives on Oswald, thus offering readers an opportunity to know Oswald in different ways. My goal was to gain insight into who Oswald was as a person, what his connection was to the US Intelligence Community, and whether he was “sheep-dipped” to be a patsy.


Interviewing people with distinct perspectives on the assassination (based on either their research or personal experiences) supports the book’s goal of offering a comprehensive “people’s history” of the event. As such, I endeavored to interview assassination researchers; eyewitnesses to the assassination or related events; sons and daughters of US intelligence operatives who played a role in the assassination or related events; scholars and academics with disciplines in psychology, philosophy, history, and social science; journalists; filmmakers; and those still working to keep the story alive.


With a clear path for this book now laid out in front of me, I was still faced with a rather challenging dilemma involving what I call the three Cs: conspiracy, cover-up, and corruption. Considering recent political events, I wanted to avoid authoring something that would scream “conspiracy theory” and label me a “conspiracy theorist.” The word “conspiracy” and phrase “conspiracy theorist” have been muddied and sullied to the point where the very mention of them causes people to roll their eyes. As a result, I concluded it was my responsibility to clear up any misconceptions about the nature of conspiracies and put the Kennedy assassination in its proper place among them. Read: Not all conspiracies are created equal.


Simply stated, if the Kennedy assassination involved more than one assassin, or planning by more than one person, it was a conspiracy. As defined, a conspiracy is an evil, unlawful, treacherous or surreptitious plan formulated in secret by two or more persons. Therefore, we must come to the logical conclusion that many people conspire every day (at all levels of power and responsibility) to reach desired outcomes. Whether two coworkers conspire to make another coworker look bad, four thieves conspire to rob a bank, or a foreign government conspires to unlawfully subjugate its citizens, a conspiracy has occurred. Conspiracy is not rare; it is a natural byproduct of human nature.


I want to share two more definitions for the benefit of readers: cover-up and corruption. A cover-up is any action, stratagem, or other means of concealing or preventing investigation or exposure. If a young boy steals a cookie from a cookie jar, then cleans up the crumbs on the kitchen counter and denies ever being in the kitchen, he is engaging in a cover-up. On a much larger scale and in the case of the Kennedy assassination, the cover-up would have occurred after the assassination took place to prevent any conspiracy from coming to light. You will read a great deal about the many aspects of this particular cover-up in this book.


Corruption is a form of dishonesty or criminal offense undertaken by a person or organization entrusted with a position of authority, to acquire illicit benefit or abuse power for one’s private gain. History has clearly shown that in the United States, corruption abounds at all levels of government and in the private sector. A local judge receives a bribe to ensure a defendant is found innocent; a CEO embezzles money from his business to pay off a gambling debt; and more specifically: In 1954, the CIA sponsors a coup to dispose of the democratically elected president of Guatemala to protect the profits of the United Fruit Company. These are all forms of corruption.


In this book, the three Cs come up repeatedly in almost every interview, strongly indicating that current perspectives on US politics and institutional behavior in the 1960s (and up to the present day) are far from flattering.


An important fact pertaining to the three Cs is there are many conspiracy theories that turned out to be true. Examples include: the CIA secretly gave LSD to unsuspecting individuals to test mind control (Project MKUltra); the Gulf of Tonkin attack never happened; the Tuskegee Study of Untreated Syphilis in the Negro Male was sanctioned by the US government, resulting in the deaths of more than 128 black men from syphilis and related causes; tobacco companies hid evidence that smoking is deadly; the US government employed Nazi scientists after World War II (Operation Paperclip); the CIA developed a heart attack gun; the CIA spied on and controlled the American media (Operation Mockingbird); contaminated polio vaccines spread a cancer-causing virus; and the US government planned to commit domestic terrorism and blame Cuba (Operation Northwoods). In each of these examples, the parties involved in the conspiracy denied any involvement in the plan and attempted to cover it up.


I knew at the outset of this project I would gain a much deeper understanding of not only the Kennedy assassination, but also of the unique period in US history during which this crime was committed. In 1963, the Cold War dictated US government policy, and our intelligence agencies ran amok with zero accountability to ensure Communism was thwarted. The CIA, along with other extremely powerful agencies and individuals, were given carte blanche to play God, mandates and laws be damned. Assassinations of foreign heads of state and CIA-sanctioned military coups in foreign countries were commonplace, as was the Cold Warrior mind-set, which dictated that any means to an end, including nuclear war, was justified to defeat the Red Menace.


On December 22, 1963, exactly one month after JFK’s murder, former President Harry Truman said, “I never had any thought that when I set up the CIA that it would be injected into peacetime cloak and dagger operations. . . . There is something about the way the CIA has been functioning that is casting a shadow over our historic position, and I feel that we need to correct it.”


The reality is, many factors came into play to seal the fate of President Kennedy, including the Bay of Pigs fiasco and his desire to “splinter the CIA into a thousand pieces and scatter it into the winds.” When people ask me who killed Kennedy, I reply, “The Cold War.” My hope is that readers also gain a more nuanced understanding of how the prevailing mentality of those times led to Kennedy’s death.


Based on my own research, I have formed my own opinions regarding the assassination, although I will readily admit I will probably never know exactly what happened because, simply stated, I was not there. But as a writer and journalist, I wanted to approach the interviews for this book in an objective manner, while also taking a more conversational and relaxed approach with the interviewees, who, in some cases, would be sharing very personal and emotional memories with me. I prepared a few “fixed” questions I would ask everyone based on the book’s overriding themes, and then I came up with several more fluid questions depending on the interviewee’s specific discipline or experiences.


In essence, I would follow the lead of the interviewees. By doing so, I attempted to create a tome of comprehensive insights on the assassination that would ultimately represent a springboard for readers on which they could jump off in any direction they desire. The goal of the book is to entertain and inform readers, but also to inspire them to learn more, think critically and draw their own conclusions as free-thinking individuals.


It is my deepest desire this book brings to light the fact that regardless of who killed President Kennedy and why, it is our responsibility as citizens living in a free society to call out and hold responsible all conspirators; corrupt, narcissistic leaders; privileged elitists bent on control; and those who would cover up the truth for personal gain. It is also our responsibility to recognize the victims and collateral damage associated with conspiracy and corruption. In the case of the Kennedy assassination, the collateral damage was, and continues to be, vast and immeasurable.


We also have a responsibility to recognize those who have dedicated their lives to searching for the truth to make everyone’s lives better. I’m amazed at the dedication of the researchers who continually risk their reputations to dare question the validity of official narratives, and I admire their courage and determination.


And finally, we have a responsibility to look at the Kennedy assassination with fresh eyes, with the eyes of those who have not been indoctrinated by Cold War rhetoric and blinded by the dangerous lure of nationalism. John F. Kennedy was far from a perfect man, but he was a thoughtful, empathetic leader who stood for hope, progress, and peace. And Lee Harvey Oswald was not a nut case bent on achieving infamy; he was a highly intelligent man who, according to those who really knew him, admired John F. Kennedy. People are complicated, and nothing is ever “black and white.” Such is the case with the Kennedy assassination.


The truth is important, and unfortunately, in some cases, it does not come freely or easily. The late Carl Sagan noted, “One of the saddest lessons of history is this: If we’ve been bamboozled long enough, we tend to reject any evidence of the bamboozle. We’re no longer interested in finding out the truth. The bamboozle has captured us. It’s simply too painful to acknowledge, even to ourselves, that we’ve been taken. Once you give a charlatan power over you, you almost never get it back.”


We must steadfastly seek to uncover and ultimately demand the truth in all things. Nobody has ever been tried or punished for the murder of the 35th president of the United States. Lee Harvey Oswald never had a chance to tell his story or have his day in court. We should all see this as a travesty of justice. My hope is this material triggers something in readers and inspires them to dig further. Democracy and freedom depend on all of us doing so. As Kennedy himself once said, “One person can make a difference, and everyone should try.”


—Jack Roth
October 7, 2021




PART 1


THE RESEARCHERS


At a certain point in his presidency, John Kennedy turned a corner, and he didn’t look back. I believe that decisive turn toward his final purpose in life, resulting in his death, happened in the darkness of the Cuban Missile Crisis. Although Kennedy was already in conflict with his national security managers, the missile crisis was the breaking point. At that most critical moment for us all, he turned from any remaining control that his security managers had over him toward a deeper ethic, a deeper vision in which the fate of the earth became his priority. Without losing sight of our own best hopes in this country, he began to home in, with his new partner, Nikita Khrushchev, on the hope of peace for everyone on this earth—Russians, Americans, Cubans, Vietnamese, Indonesians, everyone on this earth—no exceptions. He made that commitment to life at the cost of his own. What a transforming story that is.


—James Douglass, author and researcher
From his keynote address at the 2009 Coalition on Political
Assassinations Conference in Dallas




CHAPTER 1


DAVID MANTIK


David W. Mantik, MD, PhD, received his doctorate in physics from the University of Wisconsin and was a member of the physics faculty (as assistant professor) at the university before leaving for medical school. He completed his internship and residency in radiation oncology at LAC/USC Medical Center in Los Angeles. He also completed fellowships in physics at the University of Illinois and in biophysics at Stanford University, as well as a junior faculty clinical fellowship with the American Cancer Society. Mantik has carried out extensive research into the assassination of John F. Kennedy, including detailed studies of Kennedy autopsy X-rays and the Zapruder film. In 1993, after examining the autopsy X-rays at the National Archives, Mantik disclosed they had been altered. He also stated there were three shots that struck Kennedy’s head and that the magic bullet theory was anatomically impossible. Learn more about his research by going to his website, themantikview.com.


Where were you when the assassination occurred, and what was your reaction?


I was working on my PhD in physics at the University of Wisconsin, Madison. It was lunchtime, the same time as in Dallas. We didn’t have a TV in our lunchroom, but we had a radio on. So, as soon as the events transpired, we listened to them on the radio. The whole weekend was one of mourning for most of us. We went on with our research that afternoon, but I remember gathering with friends that evening and commiserating with them about this disaster. It was totally shocking. It just came out of nowhere.


It was clear this was deliberate as soon as we heard the news. It would take quite a marksman to do this, even if you were just listening over the radio. So, we knew there was something nefarious going on, but we didn’t really have any idea who was behind it.


I missed the moment Oswald was shot on live television, but I heard about it shortly after. I did get a chance to watch the replays on television that same day. I was at Memorial Union on the University of Wisconsin campus. It was stunning. Immediately, you start thinking, “Wow. What’s going on here? This isn’t normal behavior.” But final conclusions had to wait.


What triggered your involvement in this work?


The movie JFK by Oliver Stone really sent me down this path. My wife wanted to see the movie, and I said, “So do I, but I don’t want to be brainwashed by Oliver, so let me do a little research first, and then we’ll see the movie.” What I discovered was amazing. There was so much uncertain material in the public eye and so much work that hadn’t been done by historians. I was simply astonished. A few months later we finally saw the movie, and I wasn’t surprised at all.


The other trigger was the Journal of the American Medical Association (JAMA). I was a member, so I received the journal regularly, and I was horrified at the interviews they did with James Humes and Thornton Boswell, the autopsy pathologists. I predicted in advance they wouldn’t describe the throat wound because that would give the game away. And of course, I was right. They never described it in either of the two articles they did. They totally evaded the issue. I was so horrified by this I told the AMA to drop my membership.


What caught my attention in this case was the X-rays. It was said there was no evidence of a blowout to the back of Kennedy’s head, which was what was reported by virtually all the witnesses at Parkland Hospital. As we later learned, this was echoed by the witnesses at Bethesda Naval Hospital, where the autopsy was performed. They agreed with one another, but it was also asserted there was no visible hole in the back of the head on the X-rays. In addition, there was no evidence for a large bullet fragment on the skull X-rays at the autopsy, but during the Clark Panel examination in 1968,1 this was found to be false. There was a blatant disagreement between the autopsy personnel and the Clark Panel experts. On the extant X-rays in the National Archives, there’s a large cross section of a bullet within JFK’s right orbit.


I was able to view these images in David Lifton’s book, Best Evidence, as the X-rays had become public by that time. I was focused on that nearly circular 6.5 mm object on the anterior-posterior X-ray, which looked white on the prints in the book. I wondered how it could be there and yet apparently not be visible to anyone at the autopsy. Not only did they not report it, but probably dozens of other people in the autopsy room saw the X-rays that night. They were posted publicly in the morgue, and nobody asked a single question about that, which was totally incomprehensible to me.


To really make the point, when I was looking at these images in Lifton’s book at breakfast one morning, I realized how obvious it was. My seven-year-old son and five-year-old daughter were having breakfast with me, so I asked each of them in turn to see if they could spot the bullet in the image. They both found it almost immediately. Neither of them had any training in radiology, but they could do better than all the autopsy personnel, including the radiologist, John Ebersole, who was at the autopsy. This made no sense to me.


What happened next?


After reading Lifton’s book, I wanted to visit the National Archives to examine the X-rays in person. I wrote a letter to Burke Marshall, who was the Kennedy family attorney, and it took him about a year to approve my request. I have no idea why it took so long. I went armed with everything, virtually all my equipment I thought might be useful. It was quite an experience. You can’t look at any of the JFK autopsy material without one, if not two, personnel from the Archives lurking over your shoulder, making sure you don’t destroy any of the evidence.


It was extremely rewarding for me. I took the optical densitometer so I could take measurements of various sites on the X-rays, and especially on the 6.5 mm object within JFK’s right orbit. I prepared in advance a very detailed screw mechanism so I could take measurements at 1/10th of 1 mm intervals across this object, in multiple directions, which is very precise. I made hundreds of measurements on this object and other parts of the X-rays, as well.


What did you discover?


It was immediately obvious this object was added to the original X-ray via a second exposure2 because I could compare the optical density of the object with the optical density measurements on JFK’s dental amalgams, which were mercury silver. This object, based on the measurements, had to be several centimeters long from front to back in that right orbit. And that makes no sense because the dental amalgams, which you can see in the House Select Committee on Assassinations report, and which I could measure on the X-rays, were indicating they were not as thick as this object. JFK had three or four teeth with dental amalgams on each side of his mandible, so this object in the right orbit was longer from front to back than all these amalgams lined up in a row. And that’s crazy because on the lateral X-ray you can see that this object, supposedly within the right orbit, can only be a few millimeters at the most in length. So, there was a gross inconsistency that was obvious right away.


What have you concluded about the assassination based on your research?


I concluded the Warren Commission wasn’t really interested in the truth. That’s the bottom line.


The autopsy pathologist stated quite clearly there was a shot to the right rear of the head, near the external occipital protuberance. I agree with that. And there must be at least one more shot to the head, most likely from the front, entering the hairline in the right forehead, because there’s a metallic trail of debris across the top of the skull. So, whether you argue it’s from the front or back, there must be a second shot to the head. And that’s immediately a problem because, according to the Zapruder film, there wasn’t enough time to get off what would be a fourth shot. It’s also clear this second shot came from the front, as well, because there are tiny metal fragments in the forehead area.


So, we’ve got a shot from the front, entering at the hairline in the right forehead, and that trail of debris goes posteriorly, but it’s at the top of the skull. Then we have a shot from the right rear of the head, near the external occipital protuberance, which is a second shot. We have a lot of eyewitnesses who saw this, and we have personnel who saw autopsy photographs very early in the game who saw that shot.


I also know from visual inspection and from my optical density measurements the bone is missing there, so everything fits together perfectly with that scenario. But there had to be a third shot to the head because the shot that came in at the right forehead seems to have petered out. The metallic trail of debris ends before it gets to the back of the head, and witnesses clearly described a large hole, perhaps grapefruit-size, at the right rear of the head. This forehead shot didn’t do that. It’s in the wrong location, it’s too high, and it peters out too quickly, yet we have many other eyewitnesses who saw a shot enter just in front of the right ear, near the top.


James Jenkins, who was assisting Humes and Boswell that night, described a hole in the skull at that point, and he was literally inches away from it. A shot coming in at a tangential angle would be just right to produce the large hole at the rear of the skull, and this is the shot that led to the debris that hit the motorcycle police to the rear of the presidential limo.


I didn’t arrive at this conclusion of three headshots right away. This scenario evolved over the years as I slowly integrated all the data, including eyewitness testimonies. So, we’re left with three shots to the head, which is uncanny. If you don’t put all three shots in there, you’re left with no explanations for certain observations or results you can see on the X-rays. It’s just an incomplete picture.


What did you discover during your follow-up visit to the National Archives in 2001?


It proved to be an extremely useful visit, as I made one very important new observation. On one of the lateral X-rays of JFK’s skull, there’s a T-shaped inscription. It’s like somebody scraped the emulsion. It’s lying on its side, just below the mandible. By itself it has no significance or meaning, and we shouldn’t focus on that. But what I wondered about was something else, from a radiologist point of view. It prompted a very simple question. Since this could only have been formed by scraping the emulsion off the X-ray film, I wondered if the emulsion was truly missing on that X-ray. And to my amazement, when I looked at the film, the emulsion wasn’t missing.


This was the one occasion when Steve Tilley, the caretaker of the JFK Collection, took the X-ray film out of its transparent plastic sheet so I could look directly at the surface on both sides. We looked at the surface with glancing light so I could easily detect whether emulsion was missing, but in this case, it was like a smoothly glazed skating rink. It was extremely smooth on both sides. There was no emulsion missing, and yet this thing could only have been made by scraping the emulsion off.


So, the bottom line is this: This is a copy film. There’s no other alternative that works here. Somebody copied the original X-ray, thus saving the T-shaped inscription. But on the copy film, the emulsion wasn’t missing. Nobody scraped it off the copy film; they scraped it off the original. I could conclude, therefore, that this wasn’t the original film. It can’t possibly be. This is basically a photograph of the original film made in a darkroom.
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An autopsy photograph of the body of President Kennedy at Bethesda Naval Hospital in Bethesda, Maryland. (Photo by Pascal Le Segretain/Sygma via Getty Images)


These obviously have been altered by time. If you look at the edges of these films, the emulsion is peeling up, as it does over decades. I looked at them carefully through the microscope, as well. Everything fits with these being fifty-plus-year-old films, so no problem there. As far as the alterations, of course, the 6.5 mm object within JFK’s right orbit is an alteration, but I knew this from earlier visits.


What was your biggest eureka moment as a JFK assassination researcher?


I was back home thinking about these X-rays and the so-called “Harper fragment” and wondering where it possibly could’ve come from. This was a piece of JFK’s skull found in Dealey Plaza by Billy Harper, a premed student at the time, so it was named after him. I realized, while looking at the X-ray taken from the front of the skull, there was bone missing at the back of the skull. I hadn’t quite realized how easily the Harper fragment could fit in there because there’s a lot of bone the X-ray beam encounters in going from front to back. I realized the fragment could fit right in there, at the back of the skull.


I was able to confirm, in subsequent visits to the Archives, that the fragment fits very clearly into the back of the skull. I was also able to confirm it by another totally separate route. I measured the optical density on the lateral X-ray of the back of the head. As you go down the back of the head on the X-ray, you can measure the optical density from top to bottom. If there’s a sudden disruption in the continuity of the numbers, you know bone is missing, and that’s exactly what I found.


So, I could place the fragment precisely at the back of the head, but it really required these detailed measurements to confirm it. And this is important because the fact the Harper fragment came from the back of the skull is only possible with a shot from the front. And specifically, it would’ve happened because of the shot near the right ear, not from the forehead.


Harper took it to his uncle, who was a pathologist in Dallas. Three pathologists at the hospital examined it, and all of them agreed it was from the back of the head, totally consistent with what I concluded. In the early ’90s, we interviewed one of these pathologists on a radio show in Palm Springs, and he confirmed this was the case. He never changed his mind about it. He also described lead light debris on one edge, and this is probably where the posterior bullet came into the skull and deposited some lead on the surface of the fragment.


Were there any low points along your journey?


A JFK researcher attacked me and told the public I was lying. That wasn’t very nice. I was raised by a devoutly religious mother who drummed one lesson into my head, and that was never lie. This has stayed with me all my life. This researcher is a believer in conspiracy in this case, but he has his own opinions about what happened. He disagrees with my findings, which is fine, but he accused me of lying, which is extreme.


I grew up a very dedicated American, believing in my government, thinking the United States knew what to do and what was right. Those beliefs stayed with me for a very long time, and it wasn’t until I encountered the JFK fiasco I began to seriously question many other areas of American public life.


In view of what I told you about my mother, my focus always has been on finding out the truth, which does come at some personal cost. Not everybody is happy to hear the truth. One must be careful, even with one’s friends, when you declare the government has been lying about one issue or another.


What have been the ripple effects of the assassination?


Immediately after the assassination, the Europeans seemed to know what was going on. If you read their early books, they were quite convinced this was a domestic conspiracy. It was only in America we didn’t seem to know that. For us it had to be a lone-nut communist, but the Europeans knew better. It made us look bad on the national scene to be so narrow-minded and so focused on Oswald. There was a price to be paid there. We were looked down on as being rather simple about this.


In your opinion, was Lee Harvey Oswald a patsy?


Yes. He said that, and I believe that’s the case. He must’ve known something about this whole scenario to even think of uttering that phrase. How many other so-called assassins have ever uttered a phrase like that? “I’m just a patsy.” Can you think of any in history who have said that? The bottom line is there were too many shots to fit into the Zapruder film and the time required to fire the Mannlicher-Carcano rifle, so it doesn’t make any sense at all.


When I look at the case, the entire range of emotions comes to the surface for me. I’m angry, very disappointed in the government investigation, and at some level furious that this kind of misbehavior could occur using our own tax dollars. We don’t contribute money to Washington, DC, to have something like this happen.


Why does the JFK assassination still matter all these years later?


For me, it cracked open the door to government misbehavior in general. I think this has been the case for many other researchers, as well. We may have suspected at some level the government wasn’t always telling the truth, and we’re vaguely aware of that, but when you see how blatantly they were willing to cover up and overtly lie about the assassination, it really opens your eyes, and you wonder, “What can you trust in the end?” And of course, in view of the decades that have passed since, those questions become ever larger, in boldface. And you wonder, “Where’s the truth? How can you even find it today?”


This case reveals what human beings will do under pressure or when their deep beliefs are challenged. This is the most important lesson I’ve learned through this case. It’s not simply that there was a conspiracy and the government didn’t want us to know; it taught me what human beings are really like. Because once you know what the truth is, you have a good measuring stick to assess other people’s responses, their logical abilities, their emotional status, and their personal biases. And most human beings fall pretty darn short of being perfect on that scale.


The work of American social psychologist Stanley Milgram was published in 1963, just months before the assassination. Milgram found that most human beings, under a little duress from people of authority, will go to amazing lengths to follow orders. We knew this from the Nazis, didn’t we? This is just natural human behavior. There’s nothing new here, but the JFK assassination just reaffirmed all these issues so indelibly in my mind.


Human beings are generally friendly and happy to work with you, that is, until their beliefs are oppressed, or unless there’s an authority figure telling them what to do. Of course, Humes and Boswell were the prime examples of this. They were in the military. Humes was a Catholic. Is there authority in the Catholic church and the military? He just couldn’t tell the truth about what he really found, but he tried very hard to do it. Over the years, I’ve picked up subtle hints he was trying to share what he could, but he was so limited in what he could say.


We should also remember the CIA was formed in the late 1940s, and the unaccountability of the intelligence agencies is clearly behind all of this. If you don’t have accountability, human behavior can go awry quickly. We’ve seen this in spades in this case. So, I think our country, our democracy, changed dramatically when the intelligence agencies came on the scene in the post-World War II era.


What would you want younger generations to understand about the JFK assassination?


I would like the history books to tell the truth. We’ve emphasized truth a great deal in this conversation today, but I think history books should tell the truth, too. Why don’t we just tell our students our president was killed by domestic conspiracy? Because he was. I remember going to my daughter’s fifth- or sixth-grade class. Coincidentally, when I was there, one of her classmates gave a talk on the JFK assassination, and she said, quite overtly, that Oswald did it. And I thought, “Oh my god. Really?” So, at least the history books should tell the truth; we shouldn’t routinely be lying to our children.


And the media are captured by the corporate mind-set. People who try to tell the truth in this case can’t because the people at the top won’t let them. In fact, I have a good example of this. I did a long series of video interviews with Fox News once. The two fellows who were doing this were really excited about it, and I was hopeful something would happen, but the CEO of Fox News at the time, Roger Ailes, caught wind of it, and that was the end of those interviews ever airing.


If you could get the answer to one question in the case, what would it be?


At this stage of my research, I’m most curious about who pulled the triggers and who told them to. What was the chain of command there? I think we’re getting a little more information about that now. This isn’t my area of expertise, so I’m not going to make any specific comments, but I’d be delighted for other researchers to give us more information about the chain of command.


And I wonder, given his role in the case, how did William Harvey3 justify his membership on the governing board of his church? He was one of the top counterintelligence officials in the CIA. He worked very closely with James Jesus Angleton and was responsible for building the tunnel in Berlin during the height of the Cold War. He’s one of the top men in the CIA going way back, and most researchers suspect he either knew about the conspiracy or may even have been one of the primary planners of the assassination.


So, I found it interesting he was so devout in his church work, the Lutheran church in Ohio, after he retired. Given my own background in the Pentecostal church, I couldn’t put those two things together. I couldn’t live with myself if I had any guilt at all from the Kennedy assassination, so that’s a real conundrum to me.


What is your biggest motivation at this point to continue your work?


I don’t think there’s much more I can do on the medical side. I’ve been to the National Archives nine times and focused on integrating those findings with the research in collaboration with witnesses and other experts. My optical density measurements have been verified to a degree. The gate-keepers are now very stingy about letting people back into the Archives. In fact, the tenth time I asked for permission to visit, I was flatly refused. The reason they offered was I had been there nine times, and that was enough. They felt I should’ve seen everything I needed to see during those visits.


If we had been allowed to see the original autopsy photographs and X-rays unaltered, everyone, even nonmedical people, would’ve known there were shots from the front, and the official story would’ve been torn apart immediately. So, they had to cover this up if they wanted to go with the Oswald narrative. They really had no choice, and they went to extreme lengths to do it. They did some stupid things in the alterations, from my perspective.


On the autopsy photos, the back of JFK’s head is intact, and there’s virtually no blood. It looks like somebody had just washed his hair, and there’s no hole in the back of his head whatsoever. Sixteen Parkland physicians were shown these autopsy photos and asked, “Is this what you remember?” And all sixteen of them said, “No. That’s not what I remember.” It’s absurd when you really look at it.


Is there anything else you wish to add?


I wish you the best with your work. You must carry the flame forward now. You and other researchers like yourself must do this because I’ve done my bit. If there were more I could do, I would do it, but I think I’ve pretty much reached the end of the road as far as the medical evidence is concerned. So, my best wishes to you.




CHAPTER 2


LARRY RIVERA


Larry Rivera was born the son of a career military man who served as a CID officer in the Army (criminal investigations). He is a Certified Network Engineer who has made a lifelong study of the JFK assassination, making his first trip to Dealey Plaza in 1991. He is the author of The JFK Horsemen, in which he presents compelling evidence—using modern-day digital computer technology and forensic digital overlays—that places Lee Harvey Oswald standing in the Texas School Book Depository front doorway while the assassination took place. Through this type of digital overlay analysis, he also determined the backyard photos of Lee Harvey Oswald holding the rifle used to shoot Kennedy were cleverly manufactured to frame him. Rivera is also considered a leading expert on the JFK motorcycle escort officers.


What triggered your involvement in JFK assassination research?


We lived in Germany at the time of the assassination because my dad was stationed there at the time. I was six years old, and I remember that night my dad had the graveyard shift but hadn’t left for work yet. My mother came in and told us after a neighbor told her. The expression on my father’s face . . . his reaction to hearing the news . . . was overwhelming to me. It was a mixture of shock and sadness.


From there I maintained an interest in the case. As I grew up, I read magazines that discussed it. When I went to college, the House Select Committee on Assassinations1 was looking into the assassinations of JFK and Martin Luther King Jr., so I read what little came out in the newspapers about that. I eventually left college and started to work, but I continued to read many of the books that were coming out.


In the early 1990s, I happened to be in Dallas for an IT certification. I made a point of going to Dealey Plaza, and my first impression was how small it was and how mystical it seemed. It’s so small in comparison to what you see in videos and movies. Some people who profess some type of knowledge about the case, believe it or not, have never been to Dealey Plaza. If you’re going to investigate this case, you should go there, look at the angles, and study the place.


On the 25th anniversary of the assassination, 1988, a lot of shows were produced. I believe that’s the first time they showed the Nigel Turner documentary series The Men Who Killed Kennedy. His contributions were so fantastic that the deep state2 had to take measures to make sure those episodes, especially the last ones, were never aired again. Fortunately, they’re on YouTube, and you can download them there.


How did your interest grow from there?


I started studying the contributions of early researchers, including Sylvia Meagher, Harold Weisberg, Mark Lane, and Vincent Salandria. These are people who risked their lives to investigate this when the case was still fresh. There was a woman named Shirley Martin who decided to start interviewing witnesses almost immediately after the assassination, and a few years later her oldest daughter, Victoria, who had accompanied her mother to Dallas to interview witnesses, was killed when another car side-swiped her Volkswagen Beetle. Shirley gave up her research after that. I got to know her son, Steve, whom I interviewed for my book.


I also must credit J. Gary Shaw, who wrote the outstanding book Cover-Up in 1976. I wrote him and asked for some resources and contacts in the research community, and he suggested contacting Jerry Rose, who published the now defunct The Third Decade, which became The Fourth Decade, a journal that published six times a year. Before the Internet, that’s when researchers published their papers and investigations. I devoured all that and kept buying books. After the movie JFK came out, I started obtaining documents. I’m a firm believer in using primary source material and not just reading a book and interpreting somebody else’s interpretation. I like to read the documents they cite and form my own opinion.


Now that we’re seeing this deluge of new declassified documents coming out, for those of us who have been on the case for so long, they’re a treasure trove. You just have to get in there, roll up your sleeves, and read, collate, classify, and see where these new pieces of the puzzle fit. Then you must step back and look at the big picture again with a different frame of mind.


What do these new declassified documents reveal?


They tell us a lot about what happened in Mexico City. For example, one of the most important chapters of my new book is on Sylvia Duran, the secretary at the Cuban Consulate. She supposedly had these encounters with a “Lee Harvey Oswald” who was there to obtain a transit visa to go to Cuba, then on to the Soviet Union, after supposedly making his escape after the assassination. When you look at that in terms of a timeline, you ask how he could go in late September or early October to get this visa, but he wasn’t escaping until late November. There’s no cohesiveness there, and it doesn’t even say he’s coming with his wife and kids. It doesn’t make any sense at all.


Another thing we’ve learned is three of Mexico’s most important presidents, from 1958 to 1976, three consecutive presidents on six-year terms, were active CIA agents with their own cryptonyms. Winston Scott was the CIA Chief of Station in Mexico City and was the architect of the espionage operation, wiretapping, and photographing of the Cuban and Soviet embassies, which were done in league with the Mexican government. The Mexicans provided the manpower, and the Americans provided the technology. Journalist Jefferson Morley called Mexico City the “Casablanca of the Cold War” through its connections to competing capitalist and communist governments and agendas.


Looking at the cables coming out of Mexico City, former Canadian diplomat Peter Dale Scott has determined they don’t make any sense if you construct a timeline. It looks more like a CIA operation, post-assassination, where they’re trying to create the document trail saying this is Lee Harvey Oswald walking into the Cuban consulate applying for visas. If it did happen, it was an imposter. They’re backdating documents and cables to create a paper trail they could use to prove Oswald went to Mexico City.


This was something that came out of the Lopez Report, which was classified until 1992, when it became one of the first documents released through the Assassination Records Review Board,3 which was set up because of the movie JFK. The Lopez Report was a 400-page report written by House Select Committee on Assassinations staffers Edwin Lopez and Dan Hardway, who went to Mexico City to investigate. They interviewed Sylvia Duran and concluded there was no hard evidence that the Lee Harvey Oswald killed in Dallas was ever in Mexico City. Now, with the other documents coming out, we’re starting to get more corroborating evidence on that. We now have the full organization chart and the identifications of the people who were involved in everything going on in Mexico City.


I have a list of ten instances of new information that, if you know how to apply it, gives you a new perspective on the case. First, it was a coup d’état involving many different players. It was all about Cuba. There’s a lot of compelling evidence on LBJ’s complicity, but it also involved the CIA and the military-industrial complex. J. Edgar Hoover provided the cover-up mechanism, which starts with control of the body and the autopsy. Nobody could control that except the military, so they had to be involved. You have Chief Justice Earl Warren, who was involved in the cover-up, and of course Gerald Ford, who was the one who changed the position of Kennedy’s back to better fit the craziness of the single-bullet theory put forth by Arlen Specter.4 I don’t know how anybody can believe that crock, but that’s a whole different story.


When did you first see the Warren Commission Report?


When I was in high school, I saw the 888-page paperback version of the Warren Commission Report. I couldn’t stop laughing because this was what was presented to the American public at the time. They didn’t release the 26 volumes with all the evidence and the hearings until later. You had to pay $79 for a set of those books, and they didn’t even have an index. It was Sylvia Meagher who created the first index.


So, a few of the early researchers read them and said, “Wait a minute, there’s something really fishy going on here because so much of what’s in the twenty-six volumes isn’t in the 888-page report.” The report is just a fantasy. When you read the interviews in the volumes, you discover all the leads that weren’t followed. It was all done on purpose, obviously.


Then you have the individuals who weren’t brought in to testify. The most egregious example has to be the four motorcycle cops, especially the two on the right side of the limo, James Chaney and Douglas Jackson. The two on the other side were Bobby Hargis and B.J. Martin, and their testimony covered a total of seven pages combined. Hargis was right there and got splattered with blood and bone from the headshot. He thought he had been shot himself. The way the Commission handled this in the inquiry tells you something was obviously very wrong.


[image: image]


President Kennedy’s motorcade passes the Texas School Book Depository prior to the assassination. Is the man in the doorway of the Depository Lee Harvey Oswald? (Photo by © CORBIS/Corbis via Getty Images)


You’ve done some careful photographic analysis as part of your research. What have you concluded from that analysis?


My first book, The JFK Horsemen, is the result of six years of meticulous work. I used digital computer technology to analyze the Altgens 6 photo, the one of the man in the doorway of the Texas School Book Depository. Using forensic digital overlays, I was able to positively identify the man as Lee Harvey Oswald, which means he wasn’t on the sixth floor shooting Kennedy. I also analyzed the backyard photographs with Oswald supposedly holding a rifle, and I discovered these photos were manufactured to frame him. All of this proves Oswald should be exonerated.


On the Altgens 6 photo, the first thing you notice is it’s been highly altered. It has a lot of airbrushing. There are researchers who say that because it’s such a tiny area in the photo, the enlargement changes the features of the people. I don’t agree with that because I did the overlays for the man in the doorway, and when I overlaid images of Oswald onto blowups of that man, the features lined up perfectly. When I did that with Billy Lovelady, the man the Warren Commission concluded was in the photo, they didn’t. I focused mostly on the face and the features, but there’s an anomaly over the left shoulder where it seems like the man behind him is both in front and behind because the shoulder has been retouched.


I published this on a website called academia.edu, where a lot of academics and researchers publish papers. I published the study as a scientific paper, with an abstract, introduction, methodology, results, and conclusion. I give people step-by-step instructions on how to replicate the work. Since then, the paper has been cited over 2,500 times in other papers and books. In the methodology, you start with a probe image, an unknown or control, and then you bring in your known images, superimpose them and digitally work with the images, adjusting the opacity and the scaling. And you pay close attention to the inner pupillary distance and setting those because they can’t change. Then you can work with the rest of the features and determine if it’s the same person or not.


With Oswald I did a superimposition, where I start with the lower values and increase the opacity, and gradually you see the transformation and the features line up perfectly with the man in the doorway. When I used this methodology with a photo of Lovelady, it wasn’t even close. Since 2016, I’ve challenged anybody who’s willing and able to refute the findings to follow the methodology and prove it’s Billy Lovelady, and to this day nobody has been able to do it. I’ve had people from Hollywood contact me and say, “Hey, you’re right on the money with this.”


Did you use the same methodology with the backyard photos?


The backyard photos are purported to show Oswald holding the rifle. I applied the same techniques to those photos and was able to prove the man who stood in for the photos was Roscoe White of the Dallas Police Department. When you superimpose a picture of White onto the backyard man, everything comes out perfectly. The only thing they did was put the face of Oswald onto White, and White did the altering himself because he was highly trained in photography. When you superimpose a picture of Oswald from that time frame onto the backyard man, it’s absurdly scrawny. The shoulders are much higher because the neck isn’t as long. The shape of the shoulders and the torso aren’t even close, and the inner pupillary distance proves it’s White.
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One of the controversial backyard photos that appears to show Lee Harvey Oswald holding a Mannlicher-Carcano rifle and a newspaper. (Photo by © CORBIS/Corbis via Getty Images)


If you look at the doorway and backyard photos, you see the amount of sophistication employed in trying to make Oswald a patsy. They even had Life magazine publish this on its cover. You start to realize the magnitude of this whole operation and the effort to keep it under wraps, hidden from public opinion. You also realize the mainstream media were obviously complicit in not revealing this information. Instead, they continue with the lie that Oswald did this. Even though the best riflemen in the world said the shot was impossible—two hits on a moving target through foliage with that rifle and a defective scope. The best tried, but nobody could do it.


You also produced a 3D model of Dealey Plaza to determine where the shots came from. What have you learned from that analysis?


When you go to Dealey Plaza, you realize the headshot came from the storm drain. Jim Garrison5 said this many years ago. Researcher Penn Jones Jr. used to climb into it through the manhole cover, but all of that has since been altered because too many people were starting to realize the headshot came from below. If you look at the Zapruder film,6 at the trajectories, it’s obvious it came from below. Kennedy’s head was at a 60-degree angle and the road sloped down. To get that headshot, it had to come from below. When I created the 3D model of Dealey Plaza, I was able to look at the trajectories, and I’m 99.99 percent certain the headshot we see so graphically displayed in frame 313 came from the storm drain.


If you go there and look from the picket fence, the trajectory is wrong. Any bullet from there would’ve gone through and hit Jackie. Roy Kellerman of the Secret Service was riding shotgun in the limo, and in his testimony before the Warren Commission he said it was a shot coming from below. I don’t profess to have all the answers, but I’m confident in the work I’ve done using computers to analyze images and create the 3D model. I was supposed to testify at the mock trial in Houston in 2017, but I was excluded at the eleventh hour. My doorway and backyard photos would have exculpated Oswald right away.


What did you learn from analyzing the Fred Newcomb tapes?


Fred Newcomb wrote the book Murder from Within with Perry Adams in 1971. Newcomb interviewed several witnesses for the book, and these interview tapes have given us a whole new perspective on what happened on Elm Street. I think there were seven different police officers interviewed for the book. Newcomb sent the Zapruder film to these police officers, then followed up and interviewed them over the phone. And all of them said what’s on the film isn’t what happened.


These tapes are real because we have videos of Bobby Hargis on YouTube talking about the same thing, and the voice is the same. All these guys have died, some of them prematurely. James Chaney died in 1975, and I don’t think he was even fifty. I was in touch with Douglas Jackson’s son, who wanted copies of the tapes, and he verified it was his father talking. That information changed everything that happened on Elm Street, and it confirmed what we see in the Zapruder film is false.


What kinds of challenges did you encounter while doing your research?


Sifting through all the misinformation and false leads. People are actually paid to run disinformation. “Limited hangouts” is what we call it. They indicate they’re proconspiracy, but they’re really creating a lot of confusion and arguments, and they give out bad information that has already been hashed out before. That’s why I don’t participate in online forums because it’s a waste of my time. You can spend hours there when you could be doing other things. We’ve always had shills coming in and stirring the pot, creating false leads, misinformation, and disinformation. That’s why I like to go straight to the documents, form my own opinions, and combine that with other things we need to do, like interviewing witnesses.


Were there any low points along your journey?


Realizing how the mainstream media are in concert with the government to perpetuate the cover-up. That’s when you realize what you’re up against. They control what goes into the minds of young people in schools. Our history books all have Oswald shooting from the southeast window of the sixth floor of the Texas School Book Depository and then have him jumping on a bus. That’s ridiculous, and Jim Garrison made this point. He said Oswald would be the only assassin he’d ever heard of that used public transportation to leave the scene of the crime.


What was your biggest “eureka” moment as a JFK assassination researcher?


The first was when I was analyzing the Newcomb tapes in the summer of 2014, and I heard James Chaney clearly say both the JFK limo and the Queen Mary limo behind them stopped. He said, “Bobby Hargis got off of his bike, ran in between the two limos in front of me.” You don’t see this at all in the Zapruder film.


Also, Douglas Jackson said five Secret Service agents dismounted and surrounded the JFK limo with guns drawn. Jackson was the so-called “knoll rider.” He rode his bike up the embankment, then dismounted and drew his gun. He hid behind the little wall there, where Zapruder was. He was trying to find out where the shots came from. Again, you don’t see any of this in the Zapruder film. When Newcomb sent him the film, Jackson said it had been altered; he couldn’t see any of the things that actually happened.


In the Newcomb tapes, there’s an anecdote about a piece of Kennedy’s skull landing at the feet of a kid on the curb of the south side of Elm Street. The only kid there was Joe Brehm, Charles Brehm’s son. You see them in the Zapruder film from frames 279 to 290. That’s another thing that proves the film has been altered. He’s behind his father, and suddenly he’s in front, and that type of movement is impossible.


Stavis Ellis, the supervisor of the motorcycle cops, is interviewed for almost an hour on the tapes, and he says a big chunk of skull landed on the south curb and a kid picked it up. And then a Secret Service agent took it and tossed it into the limo. That was compelling because it changed everything. Newcomb didn’t realize the importance of what he had on those tapes because he only heard a small portion of them and didn’t transcribe them the way I did. It took me eight months, and I’ve only shared them with select members of the research community because the owner of the tapes doesn’t want them to fall into the hands of people who would misuse them.


The other eureka moment was when I superimposed the man in the doorway with Oswald and all the features lined up perfectly. I said, “Man, I’m in trouble here now.”


What have been the ripple effects of the assassination, good and bad?


In my mind, the assassination is one of the seminal events in the history of the United States. It changed the course of history as we know it. But as far as ripples are concerned, I can’t see any positive ones.


As a result of this coup d’état, you had individuals who became presidents who should never have been presidents, starting with LBJ, who was about to be thrown in jail for all the murders and the influence peddling he was involved in.


You have all these enemies of JFK who benefited from the assassination—J. Edgar Hoover (whom Kennedy was about to retire), the oil millionaires, the Cubans, and even the Israelis because JFK didn’t want Israel to have the atomic bomb. Then you have the military-industrial complex, which desperately wanted to expand the war in Vietnam. And let’s not forget the Federal Reserve . . . JFK wanted to stop this privately-owned bank from loaning money to the US government at interest. He wanted to replace the Federal Reserve with the US Treasury and create a currency backed by silver and gold. All these people and organizations benefited because of Kennedy’s death.


What would you want younger generations to understand about the JFK assassination?
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